

UNIVERSITI PUTRA MALAYSIA

FACTORS ASSOCIATED WITH ADHERENCE TOWARDS DIFFERENT VACCINES OF CHILDHOOD IMMUNIZATION OF UNDER FIVE CHILDREN AMONG MOTHERS ATTENDING KLINIK KESIHATAN SEREMBAN

ZAMZAIREEN BINTI ZAINAL ABIDIN

FPSK(M) 2017 44



FACTORS ASSOCIATED WITH ADHERENCE TOWARDS DIFFERENT VACCINES OF CHILDHOOD IMMUNIZATION OF UNDER FIVE CHILDREN AMONG MOTHERS ATTENDING KLINIK KESIHATAN SEREMBAN



By

ZAMZAIREEN BINTI ZAINAL ABIDIN

Dissertation Submitted to the Department of Community Health, Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, Universiti Putra Malaysia, in Fulfilment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Public Health

August 2017

All the materials within the dissertation, including logos, photographs, icons, without text limitation, and also all other artwork, is copyright materials of Universiti Putra Malaysia unless stated otherwise. The use of any material in the dissertation is only for non-commercial purposes from copyright holder. Any commercial uses shall only be made with prior, express, written permission from Universiti Putra Malaysia.

Copyright © Universiti Putra Malaysia.



Abstract of dissertation presented to the Department of Community Health, Universiti Putra Malaysia in fulfilment of the requirement for the degree of Master of Public Health

FACTORS ASSOCIATED WITH ADHERENCE TOWARDS DIFFERENT VACCINES OF CHILDHOOD IMMUNIZATION OF UNDER FIVE CHILDREN AMONG MOTHERS ATTENDING KLINIK KESIHATAN SEREMBAN

By

ZAMZAIREEN BINTI ZAINAL ABIDIN

August 2017

Chairman: Associate Professor Dr. Muhamad Hanafiah bin Juni, MD, MPH Faculty: Medicine and Health Sciences

Introduction: Immunization schedule varies among each country based on situations and diseases. Adherence namely completeness and timeliness towards the schedule is the basis of children protection as seroconversion is age-dependent. Hence, even if immunization coverage is persistently high, as of late, vaccine preventable diseases are on the rise.

Objective: To determine the factors associated with adherence (completeness and timeliness) towards different vaccines of childhood immunization of under five children among mothers attending Klinik Kesihatan Seremban.

Methodology: A cross-sectional study was conducted among mothers with under five children attending Klinik Kesihatan Seremban. 320 respondents were selected based on systematic random sampling method. Dependent variable was adherence (completeness and timeliness) and independent variables include socio-demographic characteristics, child factors, healthcare services and logistics. Data was collected using self-administered questionnaires and proforma. All the data that had been collected was analyzed using SPSS version 22 involving descriptive and inferential statistics.

Result: A total of 314 respondents consented, giving a 98.1% response rate. The study revealed that 98.09 % of respondents adhering towards completeness of immunization schedule while a range of 56.5 % to 97.1 % of respondents adhered in term of vaccine timeliness. There was significant association between types of transportation and adherence (completeness) towards immunization schedule (p=0.041). Employment status was also significantly associated with

adherence (timeliness) towards BCG vaccine (p=0.008), Hepatitis B Dose 1 vaccine (p=0.018) and Hepatitis B Dose 2 vaccine (p=0.040). There was also a significant association between education level and adherence (timeliness) towards DTaP/IPV/HiB Dose 4 (p=0.019). Maternal age group and usage of government clinic was also significantly associated with adherence (timeliness), p=0.030 and p=0.017 towards MMR dose 1 vaccine. Household income was the predictor for adherence (completeness) towards BCG, Hepatitis B Dose 1, Hepatitis B Dose 2 and MMR Dose 1 were employment status, birth order, maternal age and household income respectively.

Conclusion: The findings of this study denote the high level of adherence (completeness) towards childhood immunization schedule but of varying level of adherence (timeliness) towards different vaccine scheduled. Household income was the predictor for both adherence (completeness) and adherence (timeliness) of MMR dose one but of different category. Other predictors include employment status, birth order and maternal age for BCG, Hepatitis dose one and dose two respectively.

Keywords: Adherence, childhood immunization, under five children, timeliness

Abstrak disertasi yang dikemukakan kepada Jabatan Kesihatan Komuniti, Universiti Putra Malaysia sebagai memenuhi keperluan untuk Ijazah Sarjana Perubatan Kesihatan Awam

FAKTOR-FAKTOR YANG BERKAITAN DENGAN KEPATUHAN TERHADAP VAKSIN IMUNISASI KANAK-KANAK YANG BERBEZA-BEZA DI BAWAH LIMA TAHUN DI KALANGAN IBU-IBU YANG HADIR KE KLINIK KESIHATAN SEREMBAN

Oleh

ZAMZAIREEN BINTI ZAINAL ABIDIN

Ogos 2017

Pengerusi : Profesor Madya Dr. Muhamad Hanafiah bin Juni, MD, MPH Fakulti : Perubatan dan Sains Kesihatan

Pengenalan: Jadual imunisasi berbeza-beza di antara setiap negara berdasarkan keadaan dan penyakit di negara tersebut. Pematuhan iaitu pengambilan vaksin yang lengkap dan ketepatan masa terhadap jadual imunisasi kanak-kanak adalah asas dalam melindungi kanak-kanak kerana *seroconversion* bergantung kepada umur. Oleh itu, walaupun liputan imunisasi adalah berterusan pada tahap yang tinggi, sejak kebelakangan ini, penyakit yang boleh dicegah melalui vaksin semakin meningkat.

Objektif: Untuk menentukan faktor-faktor yang berkaitan dengan kepatuhan (lengkap dan ketepatan masa) terhadap vaksin imunisasi kanak-kanak yang berbeza-beza di bawah umur lima tahun di kalangan ibu-ibu yang hadir ke Klinik Kesihatan Seremban.

Metodologi: Kajian hirisan lintang telah dijalankan di kalangan ibu-ibu dengan kanak-kanak bawah lima tahun yang menghadiri Klinik Kesihatan Seremban. 320 responden dipilih berdasarkan persampelan rawak sistematik. Pembolehubah bersandar adalah pematuhan (lengkap dan ketepatan masa) dan pembolehubah bebas termasuk ciri-ciri socio-demografi, faktor anak, servis kesihatan dan logistik. Data dikumpul dengan menggunakan borang soal selidik dan proforma. Data yang telah diperolehi dianalisa dengan menggunakan SPSS versi 22 yang melibatkan statistik deskriptif dan inferensi.

Keputusan: Sejumlah 314 responden bersetuju, dengan itu memberikan kadar tindak balas sebanyak 98.1%. Kajian ini menunjukkan 98.09% responden

mematuhi secara lengkap jadual imunisasi manakala 56.5% hingga 97.1% responden mematuhi secara ketepatan masa vaksin. Terdapat hubungan yang signifikan di antara jenis pengangkutan dan pematuhan (secara lengkap) terhadap jadual imunisasi (p=0.041). Status pekerjaan juga dikaitkan dengan kepatuhan (ketepatan masa) terhadap vaksin BCG (p=0.008), vaksin Hepatitis B Dos 1 (p=0.018) dan vaksin Hepatitis B Dos 2 (p=0.040). Terdapat juga hubungan yang signifikan antara tahap pendidikan dan kepatuhan (ketepatan masa) terhadap DTaP/IPV/Hib Dos 4 (p=0.019). Usia ibu dan pengggunaan klinik kerajaan juga berkaitan secara signifikan dengan kepatuhan (ketepatan masa), p=0.030 dan p=0.017 MMR dose 1. Pendapatan isi rumah adalah peramal untuk kepatuhan (secara lengkap) terhadap jadual imunisasi. Peramal bagi pematuhan (ketepatan masa) terhadap BCG, Hepatitis B Dos 1, Hepatitis B Dos 2 dan MMR Dos 1 masing-masing adalah status pekerjaan, susunan kelahiran, umur ibu dan pendapatan isi rumah.

Kesimpulan: Kajian ini menunjukkan tahap pematuhan (secara lengkap) yang tinggi terhadap jadual imunisasi kanak-kanak tetapi tahap kepatuhan (ketepatan masa) terhadap vaksin yang telah dijadualkan adalah berbeza-beza. Pendapatan isi rumah adalah peramal kedua-dua kepatuhan (secara lengkap) dan pematuhan (ketepatan masa) MMR dos satu tetapi untuk kategori yang berlainan. Peramal lain termasuk status pekerjaan, susunan kelahiran dan umur ibu untuk BCG, Hepatitis B dos satu dan dos dua.

Kata Kunci: Kepatuhan, imunisasi kanak-kanak, kanak-kanak di bawah lima tahun, ketepatan masa

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

In the name of Allah, Alhamdulillah with His permission, the completion of this research. I would also like to acknowledge my heartiest gratitude to my supervisor Associate Professor Dr Muhamad Hanafiah bin Juni and my cosupervisor Associate Professor Dato' Dr. Faisal bin Ibrahim for their continuous guidance and support throughout the process of this study.

I would like to thank the Director General of Health Malaysia for permission to conduct a study in a health facility. My deepest appreciation to the Director of Negeri Sembilan State Health Department, Dr Zainudin bin Mohd Ali and also to the Seremban District Health Office for the permission and assistance in the completion of this study.

My heartfelt love for my dearest husband, parents, parents in law and also children for their endless prayers, patience and sacrifices that made the completion of this research possible.

Last but not least, those that had assisted both directly and indirectly throughout this study, I wish you all thank you.

I certify that a Dissertation Examination Committee has met on 2nd August 2017 to conduct the final examination of Zamzaireen binti Zainal Abidin on her dissertation entitled "Factors Associated with Adherence Towards Different Vaccine of Childhood Immunization of Under Five Children Among Mothers Attending Klinik Kesihatan Seremban" in accordance with the Universities and University Colleges Act 1971 and the Constitution of the Universiti Putra Malaysia [P.U.(A) 106] 15 March 1998. The Committee recommends that the student be awarded the Master of Public Health.

Members of the Dissertation Examination Committee were as follows:

Dr. Huda binti Zainuddin MD (USM) M. Community Medicine (Occupational Health) (USM), OHD Senior Lecturer Department of Community Health Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences Universiti Putra Malaysia (Chairman)

Dr. Nor Afiah binti Mohd. Zulkefli B.Med.Sc. (UKM), MD (UKM), M. Community Health (Family Health) (UKM), PhD (Community Health) (UKM)

Associate Professor, Head of Department Department of Community Health Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences Universiti Putra Malaysia (Internal Examiner)

Dr. John T Arokiasamy

MBBS (Madras), MPH (UM), MSc (Epidemiology) (Harvard)

Professor, Head of Division Department of Community Medicine International Medical University (External Examiner)

> Professor Dato' Dr Abdul Jalil Nordin, DSIS MD (UKM), M. Med (Radiology) (UM) Professor and Dean Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences Universiti Putra Malaysia

Date:

This dissertation was submitted to the Department of Community Health, Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, Universiti Putra Malaysia and has been accepted as fulfillment of the requirement for the degree of Master of Public Health. The members of the Supervisory Committee were as follows:

Dr. Muhamad Hanafiah bin Juni MD (UKM), MPH (UM), MSc (London School of Economic)

Associate Professor Department of Community Health Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences Universiti Putra Malaysia (Chairman)

Dato' Dr. Faisal bin Ibrahim MBBS (Cairo), MPH (Philippines), MPHM (Mahidol)

Associate Professor Department of Community Health Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences Universiti Putra Malaysia (Member)

Professor Dato' Dr Abdul Jalil Nordin, DSIS MD (UKM), M. Med (Radiology) (UM) Professor and Dean Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences Universiti Putra Malaysia

Date:

Declaration by Members of Supervisory Committee

This is to confirm that:

- the research conducted and the writing of this dissertation was under our supervision;
- supervision responsibilities as stated in the Universiti Putra Malaysia (Graduate Studies) Rules 2003 (Revision 2012-2013) are adhered to.

Signature:	
Name of	
Chairman of	
Supervisory	
Committee: Associate Professor Dr Muhamad Hanafiah	bin Juni

Signature: Name of Member of Supervisory Committee: <u>Associate Professor Dato' Dr. Faisal bin Ibrahim</u>

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page

ABSTRACT	i
ABSTRAK	iii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	v
APPROVAL	vi
DECLARATION	viii
LIST OF TABLES	xii
LIST OF FIGURES	xiv
LIST OF APPENDICES	xii
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	xvi

CHAPTER

1	1.1 1.2 1.3 1.4	Problem Statement Significance of Study Research Questions Objectives of the Study	1 3 4 5 6
2	LITER	RATURE REVIEW	7
	2.1	Childhood Immunization	7
	2.2	Immunization Schedule	9
	2.3	Act 342 Prevention and Control of Infectious Diseases Act 1988	9
	2.4	The safety of Vaccine and its Relation with the Objectives of Divine Law	12
	2.5	Vaccines in the Malaysian Immunization Schedule	12
	2.6		14
		Immunization Coverage	15
		Adherence towards Immunization Schedule	19
		Factors Influencing with Adherence	21
	2.10	Conceptual Framework	25
3	METH	HODOLOGY	27
	3.1	5	27
	3.2	, ,	27
	3.3	Study Duration	27
	3.4	Study Population	27
	3.5	Sampling Population	28
	3.6	Sampling Frame	28
	3.7	Sampling Unit	28
	3.8	Sampling Method	28
	3.9	Sampling Size	29
		Study Variables	30
	3.11	Study Instrument	31

	3.12	Validity and Reliability of the Questionnaire	31
	3.13	Data Collection	32
	3.14	Data Analysis	32
	3.15	Ethical and Approval	33
		Operational Definitions	34
		•	
4	RESU	JLTS	
	366		
	4.1	Response Rate	36
	4.2	Normality Testing	36
	4.3	Descriptive Analysis	37
	4.4	Bivariate Analysis	41
	4.5	Multivariate Analysis	63
5		USSION	70
	5.1	Response Rate	70
	5.2	Distribution of Adherence towards Childhood	
		Immunization Schedule	70
	5.3	Socio-demographic Characteristics	71
	5.4	Child Factors, Healthcare Services and Logistics	72
	5.5	Socio-demographic Characteristics, child factors,	
		healthcare services and logistics factors towards	
		Adherence of Childhood Immunization Schedule	72
	5.6	Predictors of Adherence towards Childhood	
		Immunization Schedule	74
6	CON	CLUSION AND RECOMMENDATION	76
	6.1	Conclusion	76
	6.2	Strength of Study	76
	6.3	Limitation	76
	6.4	Recommendation for Future Research	77
			78
APPENDICES			86
BIODATA OF STUDENT 10			108

xi

 \bigcirc

LIST OF TABLES

Table	Pa	ge
2.1	Immunization Schedule for Malaysia's National Immunization Program, Ministry of Health Malaysia	10
2.2	Immunization Schedule for Delayed First Visit to the Clinic	11
2.3	Childhood Immunization Coverage	17
3.1	Sample Size Calculations (Completeness)	30
3.2	Sample Size Calculations (Timeliness)	30
3.3	Summary of Intra-class Correlation Coefficient (ICC) Values	32
4.1	Test for Normality	37
4.2	Adherence (Completeness) towards Childhood Immunization Schedule among Respondents (N=314)	37
4.3	Adherence (timeliness) towards Childhood Immunization Schedule among Respondents (at different ages)	38
4.4	Sociodemographic Characteristics of Respondents (N=314)	39
4.5	Child Factors (N=314)	40
4.6	Usages of Healthcare Services for Childhood Immunization (N=314)) 40
4.7	Logistics (N=314)	41
4.8	Association between Socio-demographic Characteristics, Child Factors, Healthcare Services, Logistics and Adherence (completeness) towards childhood immunization schedule (N = 314)	42
4.9	Association between Socio-demographic Characteristics, Child Factors, Healthcare Services, Logistics and Adherence (timeliness) towards BCG Vaccine (N = 314)	44
4.10	Association between Socio-demographic Characteristics, Child Factors, Healthcare Services, Logistics and Adherence (timeliness) towards Hepatitis B Vaccine – Dose 1 (N = 314)	46
4.11	Association between Socio-demographic Characteristics, Child Factors, Healthcare Services, Logistics and Adherence (timeliness) towards Hepatitis B Vaccine – Dose 2 (N = 314)	48

4.12 Association between Socio-demographic Characteristics, Child Factors, Healthcare Services, Logistics and Adherence (timeliness) towards Hepatitis B Vaccine – Dose 3 (N = 154) 50 4.13 Association between Socio-demographic Characteristics, Child Factors, Healthcare Services, Logistics and Adherence (timeliness) towards DTaP/Hib/IPV Vaccine – Dose 1 (N = 279) 52 4.14 Association between Socio-demographic Characteristics, Child Factors, Healthcare Services, Logistics and Adherence (timeliness) 54 towards DTaP/Hib/IPV Vaccine – Dose 2 (N = 240) 4.15 Association between Socio-demographic Characteristics, Child Factors, Healthcare Services, Logistics and Adherence (timeliness) towards DTaP/Hib/IPV Vaccine – Dose 3 (N = 198) 56 4.16 Association between Socio-demographic Characteristics, Child Factors, Healthcare Services, Logistics and Adherence (timeliness) towards DTaP/Hib/IPV Vaccine - Dose 4 (N = 37) 58 4.17 Association between Socio-demographic Characteristics, Child Factors, Healthcare Services, Logistics and Adherence (timeliness) towards MMR Vaccine – Dose 1 (N = 111) 60 4.18 Association between Socio-demographic Characteristics, Child Factors, Healthcare Services, Logistics and Adherence (timeliness) towards MMR Vaccine – Dose 2 (N = 71) 62

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure	•	Page
1.1	Under 5 Mortality Rate for Malaysia (1960 – 2015)	2
2.1	Correlation of Antibody Titres to the Various Phases of Vaccin Response	e 15
2.2	World Immunization Coverage 2016	16
2.3	Global Vaccine Preventable Outbreak 2016	18



()

LIST OF APPENDICES

Apper	ndix	Page
А	Ethical Approval by Medical Research and Ethics Committee	87
В	Acknowledgment to Ethics Committee for Human Research, Universiti Putra Malaysia	89
С	Approval of Research by the Negeri Sembilan State Health Department	90
D	Application Letter for Questionnaire Content Validity	91
Е	Respondent's Information Sheet and Consent	93
	Penerangan dan Persetujuan Responden	96
F	Questionnaire	99
G	Proforma	106

 \mathbf{G}

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

CDC	Centers for Diseases Control and Prevention	
WHO	World Health Organization	
EPI	Expanded Programme on Immunization	
BCG	Bacille Calmette-Guerin vaccine	
Нер В	Hepatitis B	
DTP1	Diphtheria/Tetanus/Pertussis vaccine dose 1	
DTP3	Diphtheria/Tetanus/Pertussis vaccine dose 3	
IPV	Inactivated Polio Vaccine	
HIB	Haemophilus Influenza B vaccine	
DTP-HiB	Diphtheria/Tetanus/Pertussis and	
	Haemophilus Influenza B vaccine	
MCV1	Measles vaccine dose 1	
MCV2	Measles vaccine dose 2	
MMR	Measl <mark>es, Mumps, Rubel</mark> la vaccine	

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background

Administration of a vaccine to stimulate an individual's immune system in order to develop specific immunity to a disease-causing organism is termed as immunization. This process enhances an individual's immune system becoming fortified against an agent of disease (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2017). The definition of immunization is "the process whereby a person is made immune or resistant to an infectious disease, typically by the administration of a vaccine" (World Health Organization, 2017b). Immunization can be active or passive.

Childhood immunization has been one of the most substantial public health interventions in the past century (Ehreth, 2003). Globally, sickness, disability and death due to vaccine-preventable diseases are prevented through immunization (World Health Organization, 2016b).

The World Health Organization (WHO) Expanded Programme on Immunization (EPI) that was launched in 1974 recommended that all countries with high incidence of poliomyelitis, diphtheria, pertussis, tetanus, measles and tuberculosis infection should initiate their respective immunization programme. By 1997, Hepatitis B vaccine subsequently was incorporated in the programme (Ministry of Health Malaysia, 2004). Based on WHO EPI, it is advised that the determination of childhood immunization schedule is of a country's own decision as there is no ideal immunization schedule. However, infants must achieve protection before they are at high risk of getting the disease.

Immunization as an international programme was introduced 50 years ago (World Health Organization, 2013), and in Malaysia, the National Immunization Programme began 10 years later. Under 5 mortality rate has markedly reduced from 93/1000 live births in 1960 to 7/1000 live births in 2015 (The World Bank, 2015) as shown in Figure 1.1. Nationally, children are provided with free of charge immunization and it is included as part of the maternal and child health services in the country. Government facilities offer this service both in urban and rural areas (Shah et al., 2012).





As of mid 2015, the total world population was about 7.3 billion people and the total number of under five children in the same year was 670,928 (United Nations, 2015). Globally, for the same year, the immunization coverage was of varying level namely, BCG 88%, Hep B 84%, DTP1 91%, DTP3 86%, HIB 64%, Polio 86%, MCV1 85% and MCV2 61% (World Health Organization, 2017c).

Meanwhile, in Malaysia, the total population up to mid of the same year was about 31 million people and the total number of under five children in that year was 2,477 (United Nations, 2015). The immunization coverage was as follows: BCG 98.53%, 3rd dose Hep B 99.27%, 3rd dose DPT-Hib 99.04%, 3rd dose Polio 99.04% and MMR 93.07% (Ministry of Health Malaysia, 2016). Apart from MMR immunization, the accomplishment of the EPI in Malaysia is reflected on high childhood immunization coverage, 95% and more (Ministry of Health Malaysia, 2016).

However, evaluating the performance of immunization programme solely on the basis of immunization coverage attainment is a misrepresentation (Olusanya, 2010). There are still outbreaks of vaccine preventable diseases occurring despite of high coverage (Blumberg, Enanoria, Lloyd-smith, Lietman, & Porco, 2014). Children are more at risk in getting ill in relation to infectious diseases and vaccination delay may cause them to be vulnerable due to their young age with risk of getting vaccine preventable diseases (Omer, Salmon, Orenstein, deHart, & Halsey, 2009).

Seroconversion is age-dependent therefore, it is important that infants acquire protection as young as possible (Ministry of Health Malaysia, 2004). Nonadherence towards recommended immunization schedule will intensify children's' period of susceptibility (Yu Hu, Yaping Chen, Jing Guo, Xuewen Tang, & Lingzhi Shen, 2014). Adherence towards the schedule is essential in preventing escalation of children's risk of never fully completing the schedule. A domino effect is also generated in the event of a delay in one vaccine for catchup amendments in routine visits (Guerra, 2007).

Based on 45 low and middle-income countries, the median delays of adhering to scheduled immunizations were; 2.3 weeks for BCG, 2.4 weeks for DTP dose 1, 6.2 weeks for DTP dose 3 and 2.7 weeks for MCV dose 1. Furthermore, there were delays up to 19 weeks for the twelve studied countries; 10 weeks delay for BCG, 8 weeks for DTP dose 1, 19 weeks for DTP dose 3 and 11 weeks for MCV dose 1 (Clark & Sanderson, 2009). Likewise, in a more recent article, timely immunization was; 65 % for BCG, 67 % for DTP 1st dose, 41 % for DTP 3rd dose, and 51 % for MCV. Delays were also reported to be between 2-4 weeks despite 31 low and middle-income countries having high immunization coverage namely; 98% for BCG and 91 % for MCV (Akmatov & Mikolajczyk, 2012). Moreover, in a local study, the authors discovered that even though the coverage of the recommended immunization based on childhood immunization was more than 95 %, but overall only 63.5 % (n=304) was appropriate with age (Awadh, Hassali, Al-lela, & Bux, 2015).

The many factors that are associated with adherence towards childhood immunization schedule can be categorized into socio-demographic characteristics, child factors, healthcare services and logistics. Socio-demographic characteristics include maternal age, religion, education level, employment status, marital status, number of children and household income. Child factors include child's birth order and child's caregiver. Healthcare services factor, include the use of government or private healthcare services. Lastly, logistics factor includes distance to health facility and types of transportation.

1.2 Problem Statement

Vaccine preventable disease would result in increased in morbidity and mortality when in actual fact, it can be prevented (Chris-Otubor, Dangiwa, Ior, & Anukam, 2015). Immunization is well known as one of the most successful public health intervention in terms of reducing diseases, disability and deaths (Andre et al., 2008). Immunization schedules are devised to attain; a balance of durability of protection, effectiveness of protection at susceptible ages and vaccine safety, therefore adherence to the schedule is crucial (Clark & Sanderson, 2009). Ensuring completeness with the consideration programme in the prevention of vaccine preventable diseases by maximally protecting the children (Dummer, Cui, Strang, & Parker, 2012). However, immunization timeliness is rarely reported in national statistics (Suarez, Simpson, & Smith, 1997). Hence, significant delays may be concealed and immunization timeliness ignored.

However, multiple studies have discussed that untimely immunization predispose threats among susceptible children (Akmatov & Mikolajczyk, 2012; Babirye et al., 2012; Bielicki, Achermann, & Berger, 2012; Lernout et al., 2014; Wagner et al., 2014)

Vaccine preventable diseases persistently continue to be one of the main health issues among children in the developing countries despite high immunization coverage; more than 95% (Ministry of Health Malaysia, 2012, 2013, 2014). As being depicted nationally, vaccine preventable diseases are still a major problem in Malaysia. Nationally in 2015, the incidence rate of vaccine preventable disease per 100,000 population were 12.65 for Hepatitis B, 4.32 for Measles, 3.08 for Pertussis and 0.01 for Diphtheria (Ministry of Health Malaysia, 2016b). There was a sporadic case of Diphtheria in Langkawi, Kedah which had been observed in November 2015 with a death of an eight-year-old that was noted to have incomplete immunization (Director General of Health, Malaysia, statement release in January 5th 2016). There were also 28 diphtheria cases and 5 deaths and again, the factor of 'completeness' of immunization is strongly advised for the prevention of vaccine preventable diseases (Director General Health, Malaysia in August 26th 2016).

1.3 Significance of Study

Adherence to recommended immunization schedule is essential because of the rise of vaccine preventable disease despite high immunization coverage (Papachrisanthou, Lorenz, & Loman, 2016). Immunization if not timely, it is not adhered, leading to unprotected children even though there is high immunization coverage, and subsequently the rise of vaccine preventable diseases (Fadnes et al., 2011).

It is of benefit that this study is conducted to identify the adherence towards scheduled immunization and determining its associating factors among mothers of under five children. Minimal local researches have been conducted on this topic therefore, by obtaining this information; further understanding shall assist in addressing the associating factors so that susceptible children are fully receiving the benefits of the National Immunization Programme. The incorporation of both completeness and timeliness into routine immunization coverage statistics may help to enhance the national immunization coverage and perhaps reduce vaccine preventable diseases, benefit the public, improve healthcare services and as a baseline of framework of intervention for policy makers.

1.4 Research Questions

- 1.4.1 What is the adherence (completeness) towards childhood immunization schedule of under five children among mothers attending Klinik Kesihatan Seremban?
- 1.4.2 What is the adherence (timeliness) towards childhood immunization schedule of under five children among mothers attending Klinik Kesihatan Seremban?
- 1.4.3 What are the socio-demographic characteristics (maternal age, religion, education level, employment status, marital status, number of children and household income) influencing the adherence (completeness and timeliness) towards childhood immunization schedule among mothers?
- 1.4.4 What are the associating factors (child factors, healthcare services and logistics) influencing the adherence (completeness and timeliness) towards childhood immunization schedule among mothers?
- 1.4.5 What are the predictors of adherence (completeness and timeliness) towards childhood immunization schedule among mothers?

1.5 Objectives of the Study

The study objectives can be subdivided into general and specific objectives.

1.5.1 General Objective

1.5.1.1 To determine the associated factors of adherence (completeness and timeliness) towards different vaccines of childhood immunization of under five children among mothers attending Klinik Kesihatan Seremban.

1.5.2 Specific Objectives

- 1.5.2.1 To determine the adherence (completeness) towards childhood immunization schedule of under five children among mothers attending Klinik Kesihatan Seremban.
- 1.5.2.2 To determine the adherence (timeliness) towards childhood immunization schedule of under five children among mothers attending Klinik Kesihatan Seremban.
- 1.5.2.3 To determine the socio-demographic characteristics (maternal age, religion, education level, employment status, marital status, number of children and household income) influencing adherence (completeness and timeliness) towards childhood immunization schedule among mothers.
- 1.5.2.4 To determine the factors influencing (child factors, healthcare services and logistics) adherence (completeness and timeliness) towards childhood immunization schedule among mothers.
- 1.5.2.5 To identify the predictor of adherence (completeness and timeliness) towards childhood immunization schedule among mothers.

1.6 Research Hypothesis

- 1.6.1 There is no association between socio-demographic characteristics (maternal age, religion, education level, employment status, marital status, number of children and household income) and adherence (completeness and timeliness) towards childhood immunization schedule.
- 1.6.2 There is no association between factors (child factors, healthcare services and logistics) influencing with adherence (completeness and timeliness).
- 1.6.3 There is no predictor on adherence (completeness and timeliness) towards childhood immunization schedule among mothers attending Klinik Kesihatan Seremban.

REFERENCES

- Abdulraheem, Onajole, Jimoh, & Oladipo. (2011). Reasons for incomplete vaccination and factors for missed opportunities among rural Nigerian children. *Journal of Public Health and Epidemiology*, *3*(4), 194–203.
- Abul Fadl Mohsin Ebrahim. (2014). Vaccination in the context of Al-Magasid Al-Shari'ah (objectives of divine law) and Islamic medical jurisprudence. *Arabian Journal of Business and Management Review (OMAN Chapter, 3*(9).
- Ahmad NA, Jahis R, Kuay LK, Jamaluddin R & Aris T (2017). Primary Immunization among Children in Malaysia: Reasons for Incomplete Vaccination. *J Vaccines Vaccin* 8:358
- Akmatov, M. K., Kretzschmar, M., Krämer, A., & Mikolajczyk, R. T. (2008). Timeliness of vaccination and its effects on fraction of vaccinated population. *Vaccine*, 26(31), 3805–3811.
- Akmatov, M. K., & Mikolajczyk, R. T. (2012). Timeliness of childhood vaccinations in 31 low and middle-income countries. *J Epidemiol Community Health*, 1–9.
- Ali, A. (2016). Childhood vaccine controversies: the myths, the facts and the uncertainties. *Scientific Malaysian Magazine*, (12), 15–21.
- Amin, R., Shah, N. M., & Becker, S. (2010). Socioeconomic factors differentiating maternal and child health-seeking behavior in rural Bangladesh: A crosssectional analysis. *International Journal for Equity in Health*, 9(9).
- An, D. T. M., Lee, J.-K., Minh, H. Van, Trang, N. T. H., Huong, N. T. T., Nam, Y.-S., & Dung, D. Van. (2016). Timely immunization completion among children in Vietnam from 2000 to 2011: a multilevel analysis of individual and contextual factors. *Global Health Action*, 9(1), 29189.
- Andre, F. E., Booy, R., Bock, H. L., Clemens, J., Datta, S. K., John, T. J., ... Schmitt, H. J. (2008). Vaccination greatly reduces disease, disability, death and inequity worldwide. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization*, 86(2), 140–146.
- Ansong, D., Tawfik, D., EA, W., Benson, S., Nyanor, I., Boakye, I., ... Dickerson, T. (2014). Suboptimal vaccination rates in rural Ghana despite positive caregiver attitudes towards vaccination. *Journal of Vaccines & Immunization*, 2(2), 7–15.
- Awadh, A. I., Hassali, M. A., Al-Lela, O. Q., Halimah Bux, S., Elkalmi, R. M., & Hadi, H. (2014). Does an educational intervention improve parents' knowledge about immunization? Experience from Malaysia. BMC Pediatrics, 14, 254.

- Awadh, Hassali, M., Al-Iela, O., & Bux, S. (2015). Factors Affecting Immunization Timeliness In Malaysia. *Value in Health*, *18*(3).
- Babirye, J. N., Engebretsen, I. M. S., Makumbi, F., Fadnes, L. T., Wamani, H., Tylleskar, T., & Nuwaha, F. (2012). Timeliness of Childhood Vaccinations in Kampala Uganda : A Community-Based Cross-Sectional Study, 7(4), 1–6.
- Barata, R. B., Ribeiro, M. C. S. de A., de Moraes, J. C., Flannery, B., & Vaccine Coverage Survey 2007 Group, on behalf of the V. C. S. 2007. (2012). Socioeconomic inequalities and vaccination coverage: results of an immunisation coverage survey in 27 Brazilian capitals, 2007-2008. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health*, 66(10), 934–41.
- Barman, D., & Dutta, A. (2013). Access and barriers to immunization in West Bengal, India: quality matters. *Journal of Health, Population, and Nutrition*, 31(4), 510–22.
- Barreto, T. V., & Rodrigues, L. C. (1992). Factors influencing childhood immunisation in an urban area of Brazil. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health*, *46*(4), 357–361.
- Baxter, D. (2007). Active and passive immunity, vaccine types, excipients and licensing. *Occupational Medicine (Oxford, England)*, *57*(8), 552–6.
- Bielicki, J. A., Achermann, R., & Berger, C. (2012). Timing of Measles Immunization and Effective Population Vaccine Coverage. *Pediatrics*, 130(3), 600–606.
- Bland, J., & Clements, J. (1998). Protecting the world's children: The story of WHO's immunization programme. *World Health Forum*.
- Blumberg, S., Enanoria, W. T. A., Lloyd-smith, J. O., Lietman, T. M., & Porco, T. C. (2014). Practice of Epidemiology Identifying Postelimination Trends for the Introduction and Transmissibility of Measles in the United States, 179(11), 1375–1382.
- Bondy, J. N., Thind, A., Koval, J. J., & Speechley, K. N. (2009). Identifying the determinants of childhood immunization in the Philippines. *Vaccine*, *27*(1), 169–175.
- Calhoun, L. M., van Eijk, A. M., Lindblade, K. A., Odhiambo, F. O., Wilson, M. L., Winterbauer, E., ... Hamel, M. J. (2014). Determinants and coverage of vaccination in children in western Kenya from a 2003 cross-sectional survey. *The American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene*, 90(2), 234–41.
- Carsten Kruger, Olsen OE, Mighay E, & Mohammed Ali. (2013). Immunisation coverage and its associations in rural Tanzanian infants. *Rural and Remote Health (Internet)*, *13*, 2457.

- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2011). *General Recommendations* on *Immunization*. Retrieved from https://www.cdc.gov
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2017). Vaccines: Vac-Gen/Immunity Types. Retrieved from https://www.cdc.gov
- Chris-Otubor, G., Dangiwa, D., Ior, L., & Anukam, N. (2015). Assessment of Knowledge, Attitudes and Practices of Mothers in Jos North Regarding Immunization. *IOSR Journal Of Pharmacy*, *5*(6), 2250–3013.
- Clark, A., & Sanderson, C. (2009). Timing of children's vaccinations in 45 lowincome and middle-income countries: an analysis of survey data. *The Lancet*, *373*(9674), 1543–1549.
- Clements, C. J., Nshimirimanda, D., & Gasasira, A. (2008). Using immunization delivery strategies to accelerate progress in Africa towards achieving the Millennium Development Goals. *Vaccine*, *26*(16), 1926–1933.
- Cotter, J. J., Bramble, J. D., Bovbjerg, V. E., Pugh, C. B., McClish, D. K., Tipton, G., & Smith, W. R. (2002). Timeliness of immunizations of children in a Medicaid primary care case management managed care program. *Journal of the National Medical Association*, 94(9), 833–40.
- Council for Foreign Relations (CFR). (2016). Map: Vaccine-Preventable Outbreaks. Retrieved from http://www.cfr.org
- Daniel Ansong, Daniel TawfikA, Emmanuel Ato Williams, Scott Benson, Isaac Nyanor, Isaac Boakye, ... Ty Dickerson. (2014). Suboptimal vaccination rates in rural Ghana despite positive caregiver attitudes towards vaccination. *Journal of Vaccines & Immunization*, 2(2), 7–15.
- Department of Statistics Malaysia. (2011). Population Distribution and Basic Demographic Characteristic Report 2010: Updated 05/08/2011). Retrieved June 16, 2017, from https://www.dosm.gov.my
- Department of Statistics Malaysia. (2016a). Statistik utama tenaga buruh Malaysia. Retrieved June 16, 2017, from https://www.dosm.gov.my
- Department of Statistics Malaysia. (2016b). Vital Statistics 2015. Retrieved from https://www.statistics.gov.my
- Dummer, T. J. B., Cui, Y., Strang, R., & Parker, L. (2012). Immunization Completeness of Children Under Two Years of Age in. *Can J Public Health*, 103(5), 363–367.

Ehreth, J. (2003). The global value of vaccination. Vaccine, 21, 596–600.

Fadnes, L. T., Nankabirwa, V., Sommerfelt, H., Tylleskär, T., Tumwine, J. K., & Engebretsen, I. M. S. (2011). Is vaccination coverage a good indicator of age-appropriate vaccination? A prospective study from Uganda. *Vaccine*, 29(19), 3564–3570.

- Farizo, K. M., Cochi, S. L., Zell, E. R., Brink, E. W., Wassilak, S. G., & Patriarca, P. A. (1992). Epidemiological Features of Pertussis in the United States, 1980-1989. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 14(3), 708–719.
- Fiks, A. G., Alessandrini, E. A., Luberti, A. A., Ostapenko, S., Zhang, X., & Silber, J. H. (2006). Identifying factors predicting immunization delay for children followed in an urban primary care network using an electronic health record. *Pediatrics*, *118*(6), e1680-6.
- Gram, L., Soremekun, S., ten Asbroek, A., Manu, A., O'Leary, M., Hill, Z., ... Kirkwood, B. R. (2014). Socio-economic determinants and inequities in coverage and timeliness of early childhood immunisation in rural Ghana. *Tropical Medicine & International Health : TM & IH*, *19*(7), 802–811.
- Guerra, F. A. (2007). Delays in immunization have potentially serious health consequences. *Paediatric Drugs*, *9*(3), 143–8.
- Henderson, D. A. (1991). The Measles Epidemic. JAMA, 266(11), 1547.
- Institute for Public Health. (2016). *National health morbidity survey maternal child health*. Retrieved from http://www.iku.gov.my
- International Labour Organization. (1955). Malaysia Employment Act. Retrieved from http://www.ilo.org
- Jani, J. V, De Schacht, C., Jani, I. V, Bjune, G., Mavimbe, J., Braa, J., ... Carlin, J. (2008). Risk factors for incomplete vaccination and missed opportunity for immunization in rural Mozambique. *BMC Public Health*, 8(1), 161.
- Kawakatsu, Y., & Honda, S. (2012). Individual-, family- and community-level determinants of full vaccination coverage among children aged 12-23 months in western Kenya. *Vaccine*, *30*(52), 7588–7593.
- Kusuma, Y. S., Kumari, R., Pandav, C. S., & Gupta, S. K. (2010). Migration and immunization: determinants of childhood immunization uptake among socioeconomically disadvantaged migrants in Delhi, India. *Tropical Medicine & International Health*, 15(11), 1326–1332.
- Legesse, E., & Dechasa, W. (2015). An assessment of child immunization coverage and its determinants in Sinana District, Southeast Ethiopia. *BMC Pediatrics*, *15*, 31.
- Lembaga penduduk dan pembangunan keluarga negara. (2016). Laporan Penemuan Utama Kajian Penduduk dan Keluarga Malaysia Kelima (KPKM-5) 2014. Bahagian Kependudukan, Lembaga Penduduk dan Pembangunan Keluarga Negara.
- Lemeshow, S., Hosmer, D. W., Klar, J., & Lwanga, S. K. (1990). Adequacy of sample size in health studies. John Wiley & Sons.

- Lernout, T., Theeten, H., Hens, N., Braeckman, T., Roelants, M., Hoppenbrouwers, K., & Van Damme, P. (2014). Timeliness of infant vaccination and factors related with delay in Flanders, Belgium. *Vaccine*, 32(2), 284–289.
- Luman, E. T., Barker, L. E., Shaw, K. M., McCauley, M. M., Buehler, J. W., Pickering, L. K., ... PA, B. (2005). Timeliness of Childhood Vaccinations in the United States. *JAMA*, 293(10), 1204.
- Mbengue, M. A. S., Mboup, A., Ly, I. D., Faye, A., Camara, F. B. N., Thiam, M., ... Mboup, S. (2017). Vaccination coverage and immunization timeliness among children aged 12-23 months in Senegal: a Kaplan-Meier and Cox regression analysis approach. *Pan African Medical Journal*, 27.
- Ministry of Health Malaysia. (2004). Clinical Practice Guideline Childhood Immunisation.
- Ministry of Health Malaysia. (2012). *HEALTH FACTS 2012*. Retrieved from http://www.moh.gov.my
- Ministry of Health Malaysia. (2013). *Health Facts 2013*. Retrieved from http://www.moh.gov.my
- Ministry of Health Malaysia. (2014). *Health Facts MOH 2014*. Retrieved from http://www.moh.gov.my
- Ministry of Health Malaysia. (2015a). *Health Indicators*. Retrieved from http://www.moh.gov.my
- Ministry of Health Malaysia. (2015b). Immunisation Schedule PORTAL MyHEALTH. Retrieved from http://www.myhealth.gov.my
- Ministry of Health Malaysia. (2016a). Garis Panduan Imunisasi Bagi Kanak-Kanak Cicir Imunisasi (Draf).
- Ministry of Health Malaysia. (2016b). *Health Facts 2016.* Retrieved from http://www.moh.gov.my
- Ministry of Rural and Regional Development. (2015). Data asas malaysia 1. Retrieved from http://www.rurallink.gov.my
- Noor Hafizan, M., Rusnah, S., & Khalib, L. (2013). Factors Contributing to Miss Appointments among 1-4 Years Old Toddlers for Routine Health Care in Government Health Clinics in Peninsular Malaysia. *IOSR Journal of Nursing and Health Science*, 1(3), 2320–1940.
- Odutola, A., Afolabi, M. O., Ogundare, E. O., Lowe-Jallow, Y. N., Worwui, A., Okebe, J., ... Engel, M. (2015). Risk factors for delay in age-appropriate vaccinations among Gambian children. *BMC Health Services Research*, *15*(1), 346.

- Olusanya, B. O. (2010). Pattern and determinants of BCG immunisation delays in a sub-Saharan African community. *Health Research Policy and Systems / BioMed Central*, 8, 1.
- Omer, S. B., Salmon, D. A., Orenstein, W. A., deHart, M. P., & Halsey, N. (2009). Vaccine Refusal, Mandatory Immunization, and the Risks of Vaccine-Preventable Diseases. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 360(19), 1981–1988.
- Otieno, N. A., Nyawanda, B. O., Audi, A., Emukule, G., Lebo, E., Bigogo, G., ... Mott, J. A. (2014). Demographic, socio-economic and geographic determinants of seasonal influenza vaccine uptake in rural western Kenya, 2011. *Vaccine*, *32*(49), 6699–6704.
- Papachrisanthou, M. M., Lorenz, R. A., & Loman, D. G. (2016). Increasing Immunization Adherence Among Infants of Low-income Parents: The Effects of Visually Enhanced Education. *Journal for Nurse Practitioners*, *12*(5), 304–310.
- Rahji, F. R., & Ndikom, C. M. (2013). Factors Influencing Compliance with Immunization Regimen among Mothers in Ibadan, Nigeria. *IOSR Journal* of Nursing and Health Science, 2(2), 2320–1940.
- Rainey, J. J., Watkins, M., Ryman, T. K., Sandhu, P., Bo, A., & Banerjee, K. (2011). Reasons related to non-vaccination and under-vaccination of children in low and middle income countries: Findings from a systematic review of the published literature, 1999-2009. Vaccine, 29(46), 8215– 8221.
- Ramaswamy, G., Pruthu, T. K., Selvaraj, K., Vinayagamurthy, V. M., & Chinnakali, P. (2014). Timeliness of primary childhood vaccination in a rural area of Puducherry, South India: evidence from routine management information system. *International Journal of Contemporary Pediatrics Int J Contemp Pediatr*, 1(3), 131–134.
- Rejali, M., Mohammadbeigi, A., Mokhtari, M., Zahraei, S. M., & Eshrati, B. (2015). Timing and Delay in Children Vaccination; Evaluation of Expanded Program of Immunization in Outskirt of Iranian Cities. *Journal of Research in Health Sciences*, *15*(1), 54–58.
- Riise, Ø. R., Laake, I., Bergsaker, M. A. R., Nøkleby, H., Haugen, I. L., & Storsæter, J. (2015). Monitoring of timely and delayed vaccinations: a nation-wide registry-based study of Norwegian children aged. BMC Pediatrics, 15, 180.
- Rossi, R., Clark, A., Sanderson, C., Anand, S., Bärnighausen, T., Khowaja, A. R., ... Harrison, K. A. (2015). Do Maternal Living Arrangements Influence the Vaccination Status of Children Age 12–23 Months? A Data Analysis of Demographic Health Surveys 2010–11 from Zimbabwe. *PLOS ONE*, *10*(7), e0132357.

- Russo, G., Miglietta, A., Pezzotti, P., Biguioh, R. M., Bouting Mayaka, G., Sobze, M. S., ... Rezza, G. (2015). Vaccine coverage and determinants of incomplete vaccination in children aged 12-23 months in Dschang, West Region, Cameroon: a cross-sectional survey during a polio outbreak. BMC Public Health, 15, 630.
- Sanou, A., Simboro, S., Kouyaté, B., Dugas, M., Graham, J., & Bibeau, G. (2009). Assessment of factors associated with complete immunization coverage in children aged 12-23 months: a cross-sectional study in Nouna district, Burkina Faso. BMC International Health and Human Rights, 9 Suppl 1(Suppl 1), S10.
- Scott, S., Odutola, A., Mackenzie, G., Fulford, T., Afolabi, M. O., Lowe Jallow, Y., ... D'Alessandro, U. (2014). Coverage and timing of children's vaccination: an evaluation of the expanded programme on immunisation in The Gambia. *PloS One*, 9(9), e107280.
- Shah, S. A., Nirmal, K., Safian, N., Hassan, M. R., Aizuddin, A. N., & Hod, R. (2012). Factors influencing childhood immunization defaulters in sabah, malaysia. *International Medical Journal Malaysia*, 11(1), 17–22.
- Smith, P. J., Humiston, S. G., Marcuse, E. K., Zhao, Z., Dorell, C. G., Howes, C., & Hibbs, B. (2011). Parental delay or refusal of vaccine doses, childhood vaccination coverage at 24 months of age, and the Health Belief Model. *Public Health Reports (Washington, D.C.: 1974)*, (Suppl 2), 135–46.
- Suarez, L., Simpson, D. M., & Smith, D. R. (1997). The Impact of Public Assistance Factors on the Immunization Levels of Children Younger than 2 Years. *Am J Public Health. Journalism Q. Pharos Books JAMA. Month Vital Stat Rep. N Engl JMed. Public Relations Q. Science. JAMA*, 87(5), 845–848.
- Subhani, S., Anwar, S., Khan, M. A., & Jeelani, G. (2015). Impact of Mother's Employment on Child Vaccination (A Case Study of Bangladesh). *Journal of Finance and Economics, Vol. 3, 2015, Pages 64-66, 3*(4), 64–66.
- Tang, X., Geater, A., McNeil, E., Zhou, H., Deng, Q., & Dong, A. (2017). Timeliness and completeness of measles vaccination among children in rural areas of Guangxi, China: A stratified three-stage cluster survey. *Journal of Epidemiology*, 4–11.
- Tauil, M. de C., Sato, A. P. S., & Waldman, E. A. (2016). Factors associated with incomplete or delayed vaccination across countries: A systematic review. *Vaccine*, 34(24), 2635–43.
- The World Bank. (2015). Mortality rate, under-5 (per 1,000 live births). Retrieved from http://data.worldbank.org
- United Nations. (2015). *World Population Prospects The 2015 Revison*. Retrieved from https://esa.un.org

- Vasudevan, L., Labrique, A. B., Mehra, S., Wu, L., Levine, O., Feikin, D., ... West, K. P. (2014). Maternal determinants of timely vaccination coverage among infants in rural Bangladesh. *Vaccine*, 32(42), 5514– 5519.
- Venkataswamy, M. M., Goldberg, M. F., Baena, A., Chan, J., Jacobs, W. R., Porcelli, S. A., & Porcelli, S. A. (2012). In vitro culture medium influences the vaccine efficacy of Mycobacterium bovis BCG. *Vaccine*, *30*(6), 1038–49.
- Wagner, A. L., Zhang, Y., Montgomery, J. P., Ding, Y., Carlson, B. F., & Boulton, M. L. (2014). Timely measles vaccination in Tianjin, China: a crosssectional study of immunization records and mothers. *BMC Public Health*, 14(888), 1–7.
- World Health Organization. (2003). Adherence to long term therapies: Evidence for action. Retrieved from http://apps.who.int
- World Health Organization. (2012). Information Sheet on Bacille Calmette-Guerin. Retrieved from http://www.who.int
- World Health Organization. (2013). The Expanded Programme on Immunization. Retrieved from http://www.who.int
- World Health Organization. (2016a). MODULE 1 Introduction to Vaccine Safety. Retrieved from http://vaccine-safety-training.org
- World Health Organization. (2016b). Recommendations for Routine Immunization (Vol. 1). Retrieved from http://www.who.int
- World Health Organization. (2016c). *Recommended Routine Immunizations for Children*. Retrieved from http://www.who.int
- World Health Organization. (2017a). Expanded programme on immunization Vision, Mission and Objectives.
- World Health Organization. (2017b). Immunization. Retrieved from http://www.who.int
- World Health Organization. (2017c). Immunization coverage. Retrieved from http://www.who.int
- Yu Hu, Yaping Chen, Jing Guo, Xuewen Tang, & Lingzhi Shen. (2014). Completeness and timeliness of vaccination and determinants for low and late uptake among young children in eastern China. *Human Vaccines and Immunotherapeutics*, *10*(5), 1408–1415